
 

 
       
     

Minutes of the  
Special Joint Work Session of the 
Colonial Beach Town Council and 
The Colonial Beach School Board 

               Thursday, April 3, 2014 at 6:30 p.m. 
 
 

Colonial Beach Town Center 
22 Washington Avenue 

Colonial Beach, VA 22443 
 
 

Present  
 Mayor, Mike Ham 

 Vice Mayor, Tommy Edwards 

 Member, Pete Bone 

 Member, Linda Brubaker 

 Member, Jim Chiarello 

 Member, Wanda Goforth 

 Member, Gary Seeber 

 

  

Also Present  
 Town Manager, Val Foulds 

 Town Clerk, Kathleen Flanagan 

 

Call to Order 
Mayor Ham called the meeting to order at 6:35 p.m.    

 

Roll Call of Members 
All members of Town Council were present. 

 

Call to Order, School Board 
Chairman Trivett called the School Board to order at 6:35 p.m.    

 

Roll Call of Members 
All members of the School Board were present. 

 

Discussion 



 

Mayor Ham opened the discussion by asking “What are the final plans about what we are going 

to do about the elementary school?  Hopefully we can come to an understanding before we leave 

tonight of what you all are looking for and what we have to do to make it happen.”   

 

Mr. Trivett noted they are already moving some of the modpods.  “We still haven’t heard 

anything from the insurance company.  We’ve submitted our portion of the claim to them.  It’s 

probably been at least three weeks ago, maybe longer than that.  I think they have 30 days to 

respond; and they haven’t responded yet.  So we don’t know anything when it comes to that 

portion of what is going on as far as the elementary school and the fire goes.” 

 

“The RFPs will be going out next week to determine what exactly the cost is going to be to make 

that move.  And that will be for ramps, for modpods, for all the things that go into making that 

move over there and sustain it for next year.” 

 

Mayor Ham asked if the School planned to stay at the high school campus long term. 

 

Mr. Trivett answered “I don’t know that we’ve really discussed long term when it comes to what 

campus we are going to be on.  In September we talked about long-term move to the high school 

and – I’m not opposed to that – and we talked about you all utilizing the primary building as a 

police department, and those kinds of things.  But that’s really – and then all these other things 

occurred that basically changed a lot of things.” 

 

“I believe at the meeting in September that the gist of that was that we had three proposals and 

the Council agreed that we shouldn’t build a permanent structure at this time, that we should go 

with the second proposal which was to move the modpods and everything to the high school 

campus.  We all had looked at that as being on a temporary basis until we actually could build a 

permanent structure.  And that’s where we are at.” 

 

“If you recall, there was a resolution, either 18 or 14, or it might have been both of them that 

were passed a couple of months ago basically saying that the town was going to give the school, 

in a loan, I think it was $480,000 or whatever the figure was, with that being paid back with the 

insurance, anything we received back from the insurance company.   

 

“And then there was an MOU which has been passed back and forth a few times between our 

attorneys, which we’ve gotten another draft of just last week.  Our attorney has asked us what 

we’re going to do.  He’s done some revisions.  Your attorney has done some revisions.  And 

we’ve basically – I’ve basically said to our attorney, I would rather wait until we have this 

meeting with Town Council to see what we really need to do and so we’re all on the same page 

and have a clear understanding of where we are at and where we are going and what’s really 

necessary, what the Council feels is necessary for us to commit to.” 

 

Mayor Ham noted a lot of the confusion came when the MOU started and we were talking about 

it being a loan and you pay us back.  “The bottom line is:  it’s the Town’s responsibility to fund 

what it takes to have a decent school.  I think the $700,000 of maintenance work that needed to 

be done at the high school, that’s something the Town is responsible for.  The lights are the 



 

biggest portion of that.  The $400,000+ to move the modpods and get the elementary school 

going over there is something – it’s our responsibility to fund.” 

 

“Now, long-term, if you could build a building, the insurance proceeds from the old high school 

would go toward building a permanent structure, be it at the old high school or at the new high 

school campus.” 

 

“We’ve got two issues right now.  We’re looking at putting in for the bond issue the $700,000+/- 

for the high school upgrades and maintenance and the $487,000 for moving the elementary 

school.” 

 

Mr. Trivett noted “I think that figure is a high number.  In Resolution 17-14 it was $448,565.”  

“We are going to do everything possible to same money because we know that everything we do 

costs the taxpayers money.  And we’re in favor of doing the best thing we can – I wouldn’t say 

the cheapest, but the most inexpensive way without causing safety issues.”   

 

Mr. Trivett further noted “If it comes to the point we can’t replace the lights on the baseball field 

and fix the softball field lights, which is what Title IX recommended over the complaint that was 

made between the boys not having lights and the girls not having lights, that’s something that 

can wait.” 

 

“The kids being in a facility is the most important thing and is priority one.  But there is the 

safety issue when it comes to those lights that we have to resolve.  We may be able to do that a 

whole lot cheaper.” 

 

“Last time I was here there were some questions asked.  Mr. Chiarello asked about us spending 

$35,000 per student.  But, in order to do that our budget would have to be about $21 million.  I 

know that the county gives us about $1.5 million and the Town itself gives us about $700,000 

and that makes up the local funding.  The rest of the funding comes from state and federal.” 

 

“The fact that the 103G federal grant is gone and we no longer have school improvement money 

that comes from the federal government which was about $1.7 million.  VRS is going up as 

you’re going to see yourself.” 

 

“Mr. Bone mentioned last time about the property, I don’t think we’re objecting to do whatever it 

takes to make these things happen.  If there is a way to get an appraisal where the old building is 

sitting right now, what that property is worth – I think initially the conversation was having 

money to secure the loan.  If that property is worth $1.2 million, then that would secure the loan.  

There is a state law that allows us as a school board to sell surplus property ourself or to turn it 

over to the governing body and allow them to sell it.  I just don’t want to get into a position 

where we turn over property to the Town Council and it sits for two or five years or however 

long waiting for the economy to change.  If that’s the decision we all make here, I believe that 

we just need to do it and get somebody to market it and get an appraisal of it and move forward 

if that’s what our board agrees to and the Town Council.  Just make it happen.  We just can’t sit 

on it because obviously it’s going to cost us all in the end.” 

 



 

Mr. Bone commented “The Mayor has been saying ‘we,’ and we haven’t discussed this.  I prefer 

he use the word ‘I’ because we have not discussed it among ourselves and said, we are going to 

do this.  I’m not totally supportive of what you’re saying.  More supportive of what happened in 

September about the property transferring to the town.  Whether you sell it or we sell it.  I 

certainly agree with you, because we sat on the boardwalk property for five years trying to sell it 

and it still hasn’t sold.” 

 

“I’m not sure what you would do with the building either.  If you make a plan to build a 

permanent structure at the high school, I think that would be beneficial to everybody because it 

consolidates everything and offers an equitable solution.  I don’t think we should make a dime 

off it.  If it appraises at $1.2 million and we get $1.5 million, then whatever the loan doesn’t 

secure, the rest of it should go back to you.” 

 

“The only thing I’m looking at is two hands:  we have a General Fund and we have a School 

Fund.  We have to look at the ability to be able to facilitate the both of them.  I think that’s the 

most equitable way.”   

 

“Both boards need to make a commitment of which way you are going to go.”  

 

“My preference would be to put the property up, put it up for sale.  We have to make that 

commitment that once we take the property, we will put it up for sale irregardless because the 

citizens are not going to be onboard to selling something that they cherish.  I understand that, but 

it’s not there anymore either.  That’s reality.”   

 

“The courthouse in Montross, which is approximately the same square footage, costs about $7 

million.  The numbers are there.”   

 

“The funding that you need every year increases and increases.  It has gone from $200,000 to 

$300,000 to $260,000 to $400,000.” 

 

Mr. Bone further indicated the Council needs to make decisions regarding status of the town-

owned boardwalk properties and Eleanor Mobile Home Park as a way to increase revenue.  Or 

the Council needs to look at an approximate 10 percent real estate increase to continue to cover 

the school’s escalating yearly costs.     

 

Mr. Chiarello reported he has pulled information from the Department of Education, 

Superintendent’s Report on the DOE website which states the actual cost per student in Colonial 

Beach is $11,540.  The actual cost per student in Westmoreland County is $10,296. 

 

Ms. Roberson noted the local amount for Colonial Beach is less than the local amount for 

Westmoreland County.  For Colonial Beach, the locality pays $3,500 and Westmoreland County 

pays $4,600.   

 

Ms. Roberson further noted more federal money was provided to the schools during the time the 

high school received 103G money for school improvement.   

 



 

Mr. Chiarello maintained that the published credible figures of per pupil spending are correct 

figures. 

 

Mr. Kennedy told Mr. Chiarello he is comparing apples to oranges.  The Town of Colonial 

Beach spends less per student than Westmoreland County does.   

 

Mr. Kennedy noted the “way some of these debates go on and on and meetings…I don’t think 

the School Board is the one confused.  There is a lot of the dog chasing the tail here.” 

 

Mr. Chiarello noted “regardless of where the money comes from, it still costs you that figure per 

student.  That is what the School Board is paying per student.” 

 

Ms. Payne noted “A majority of that money does not come from the Town or from the taxes 

collected.  That’s what the people here have to realize, when you’re paying your taxes, out of 

your tax dollars only $3,500 out of the $11,000 is actually coming from what you’re paying in 

taxes.”   

 

Mr. Chiarello asked “Is the School Board not spending $11,540 of tax payer’s money per 

student?” 

 

Mr. Trivett noted “When you’re in school improvement the federal government will give you 

lots of money.  Three years ago it wasn’t that high because we didn’t have the $1.5 million the 

government gave us.”   

 

Mr. Kennedy asked “Do you compare your town manager’s salary to the county administrator?  

Do you compare trash pickup with the county?” 

 

Mayor Ham requested all to “get back on topic.” 

 

Mr. Chiarello noted the cost per student is about $761 more per student in the county. 

 

Ms. Brubaker noted she is not opposed to paying back money with the sale of the property, 

however that property was given to the schools in the first place.   

 

Mr. Trivett responded and said there was a family that gave that property to the school.   

 

According to Mr. Kennedy, the high school property on 1
st
 Street was purchased.   

 

Ms. Brubaker agrees with Mr. Bone saying Town Council has not discussed some of the issues 

the Mayor has brought up.   

 

Mr. Brubaker asked Mayor Ham if he has worked on “tweaking some numbers so the Board 

could have a brick and mortar building.”  Mayor Ham said “I haven’t laid it out yet.  Until we 

know what they are going to get for the old high school from the insurance proceeds, we don’t 

know what we’ll have to work with.” 

 



 

Ms. Brubaker noted “So that was not a statement that in the near future we’re going to work on 

that.”   

 

“My next point is that I would like to see this issue go to referendum.”  “Either we have a moral 

obligation to fund the schools or we don’t.  I think it should be left up to the taxpayers.”   

 

Mr. Trivett asked Ms. Brubaker where she stands. 

 

Ms. Brubaker answered “I would like to see the schools remain in Colonial Beach, but not at the 

expense of raising taxes ten cents.  I made it very clear last year that I do not want to raise taxes.  

I did say that I had to eat a little bit of crow…it’s going to be necessary for some other things, 

not only for the school.  We need vehicles, a trash truck, police cars.”   

 

“I don’t think a ten cents tax increase just to pay for the schools is warranted.  If we could 

negotiate and work on that together.  I would like to see the schools stay here.” 

 

Mr. Trivett said it concerned him that “There have been council members that have gone down 

to the county and talked about ‘how can you all take over the school.’ “ 

 

Ms. Brubaker asked “What council members, sir?” 

 

Mr. Trivett answered “On this board right here.” 

 

Ms. Brubaker responded “Not myself.” 

 

Mr. Trivett responded “I didn’t say you.” 

 

Ms. Brubaker answered “I’m not privy to that.  Mr. Wallace, Chair of the School Board, happens 

to live across the street from my mother, but that’s not something – you don’t mix apples and 

oranges.” 

 

“If we have to raise taxes ten cents to pay for the school, then I’m against it.  Other than that, of 

course I would like to see the schools remain here.”   

 

Ms. Goforth noted “Mr. Trivett, you gave me a look when you said that.  I will tell you that I 

have not been there researching.  However, I did go about the police department.  But I don’t 

believe – what you’re doing is listening to rumors, apparently.  I don’t see anyone that I think has 

probably gone and discussed schools.   

 

However, I will tell you that I am researching how to get a referendum on the ballot.  And it will 

concern the schools and possibly one other question.   

 

As council people, we owe that to the citizens, to see what the majority of our voters want to do 

because this has gone on and on and on and it’s getting more expensive every year.   

 



 

I know that there are a lot of senior citizens in this town that have a very low income.  Some of 

them live on Social Security only and the tax increase really hurts them.”   

 

Ms. Payne noted “King George is raising taxes 6 percent.  Fredericksburg is raising taxes 15 

percent.  It’s only right that everybody’s taxes go up.” 

 

Ms. Goforth responded “You cannot keep going up on real estate taxes.” 

 

“When people compare the double tax, and when I pay it, it’s double, and I do own a home in 

Spotsylvania and I know what I pay in real estate tax there compared to what I pay here, and it’s 

less.”   

 

Ms. Payne noted she does not understand why the town is not ahead already, as there are at least 

50 brand new homes in her neighborhood.   

 

Ms. Goforth agreed with Ms. Payne and said that is something our Treasurer and Finance POC 

can look into. 

 

Ms. Payne maintains that what the town pays to fund the school is “minimal.” 

 

Mr. Chiarello wanted it put on the record that he is not one of the people going down to find out 

if the schools can be merged.  Nor did Mr. Chiarello go to the county asking about the police 

department. 

 

Mr. Chiarello noted this Council is obligated to the taxpayers in a very general sense, not just to 

the schools.   

 

Ms. Roberson said “I don’t have kids in schools.” 

 

Mr. Chiarello asked Ms. Roberson not to interrupt him.  “Council’s job is to look out for the well 

being of the tax payers, not just the school board or the school system.”   

 

Mr. Edwards noted he wouldn’t know where to go or who to see in Westmoreland County, so it 

was not him.  Further, it was not him that went to see Captain Hawkins regarding the police 

department.  Mr. Edwards said he was put on Council to make decisions and he is going to 

support the schools. 

 

Mr. Seeber noted “My understanding is that the purpose of this meeting is to decide how to get 

the kids up to 1
st
 street.  Whether we are going to raise taxes is a different meeting.  We’ve done 

very little discussion about how we’re going to get the kids to 1
st
 Street.  The school doesn’t get 

the loan, the Town gets the loan. We get the bond issued, for $1 million or whatever it is, that 

gets them moved and fixes the school.  We then allocate that money on a yearly basis to them to 

pay for whatever.” 

 

“We get the loan.  They don’t have to put collateral up.  However, I personally feel they don’t 

need to get in the fight over the old school building.  They will never be able to fix it.  That’s 



 

physically impossible.  My thing is, move to 1
st
 Street, give us the land, let us fight the fight.  We 

want to sell it.  We sell it.  If we have enough people come in here and say fix it, that’s our 

problem.  But I don’t think you’re ever going to go back to that property for a school.  You’re 

never going to use those properties for anything.  It’s going to sit here and be a continual 

headache for you.   

 

You give us the land.  We get the bond.  We give you the money.  You move the kids.  And you 

fix the school.  And it will be our problem to come up with the money to pay that bond on a 

yearly basis. 

 

We need to sign to get the bond and you need to sign to give us the property.  That takes care of 

the issue. 

 

If the insurance money comes in, it’s going to come to us so that we can decide to fix it or to tear 

it down or sell the property.  The only thing I would stipulate is if that insurance money comes 

in, it gets put in a separate fund that won’t be touched for anything but fixing that building or 

being used to pay for the bond we’re getting for the school. 

 

We get an evaluation of what the school costs us.  Get an independent person who would look at 

if it would save us if it went to the county and what it really costs us.  I really think we ought to 

put that in the budget and do that so we can answer this question.”   

 

Mayor Ham noted the bottom line is the town has to have the figures if we’re going to apply for 

a bond.  Mr. Bone has been working the numbers for the town side.  What we’re talking about 

now is the $700,000+/- for the high school maintenance and upgrades and the $400,000+/- to 

actually move the modpods up so the elementary children can go to school on that campus.   

 

Mr. Chiarello asked “How is the bond issued funded?” 

 

Mayor Ham answered “We pay for it.  The town pays for it from the taxpayers.”   

 

Mr. Chiarello asked “Are we in a position to raise taxes?” 

 

Mayor Ham answered “We have to make that decision.  If we commit that we’re going to take 

the bond out to get the school done, then we will find out how we will pay for it.” 

 

Mr. Seeber asked “Do you think we are in any position not to put those kids on 1
st
 Street?” 

 

Mr. Chiarello responded “I am asking you for how much.” 

 

Mr. Seeber responded “The bottom line is it’s not going to make a difference.  We’ve got to get 

those kids on 1
st
 Street.  We may have to cut something out of their operational budget.  It’s not 

part of this meeting.” 

 

Mr. Chiarello said “I would like a ball park of what the costs will be.” 

 



 

Mayor Ham answered “$40,000 to $60,000 per year for a million dollar bond.”   

 

Mr. Bone said “On each penny in real estate, with 100 percent collection.” 

 

Mr. Trivett asked “We are only referring to the piece of property that the primary school is 

sitting on, correct?  Not the ball field.  Not the field…” 

 

Mr. Seeber said “You said you didn’t need it.” 

 

Mr. Trivett said “We haven’t said if we needed it or not.”   

 

Mr. Seeber said “Last September you said you could move all that stuff up to 1
st
 Street.”   

 

Mr. Trivett said “So you’re asking us to relinguish both these properties?” 

 

Mr. Seeber said “I really don’t care about the little piece of properties because you can’t build as 

many lots as you said you could.  Nobody is going to let you build within the radius to the height 

of that tower.  So it may be as well used – it’s not a bad property to keep for athletics, some kind 

of future senior center, putting a town garden on it, whatever you want to do.  That’s not that big 

of a piece of property.  But the other piece, I think, is non-negotiable.” 

 

Mr. Trivett said “Our insurance does cover that building being removed.  There is clauses in 

there if something happens.  Even if we give up that piece of property.  We know we have an 

obligation to do that and whatever our insurance covers.  Just to make it perfectly clear, whatever 

it covers.”   

 

Mr. Seeber said “It’s going to be a long, drawn out battle to knock that down.  That’s our battle.  

This will never again be a school.” 

 

Ms. Brubaker asked Mr. Trivett if the children could stay at Oak Grove for the next school year. 

 

Mr. Trivett said “We are absolutely opposed to that.” 

 

Ms. Brubaker asked “I know you are opposed to that.  Can the children stay at Oak Grove as far 

as the church is concerned?” 

 

Mr. Trivett responded “We haven’t asked them to do that so I can’t really say if they could or 

not.” 

 

Ms. Brubaker said “I was told, I thought I was told.” 

 

Ms. Goforth said “We were at a meeting, actually, where you said that.” 

 

Mr. Trivett said “They offered to go to their Board of Directors, but they never said – that’s 

exactly how they said it, if we needed to go into next year, they would consider renting.” 

 



 

Ms. Brubaker said “So it would be a possibility if their board would approve it.” 

 

Mr. Trivett answered “I don’t think anybody wants to have that happen.  If it had to, I guess it 

could happen, but I don’t think it’s going to. 

 

The teachers are living in a box.  It’s caused a lot of problems.  But they would be the last to 

complain.  They’ve gone above and beyond to make this thing work.” 

 

Mr. Kennedy asked “Why should Colonial Beach students be treated as second class citizens?”  

 

Mr. Trivett noted he thought only the School Board would be taking a vote during this meeting 

because a resolution was approved giving the School Board $448,565 on February 17.   

 

Mr. Trivett further noted based on what happened in February, we are already publishing an 

RFP, hired an architect.   

 

Mayor Ham noted what Council is here for is “to decide whether or not the town is going to 

apply for a $1.2 million bond which would cover, worst case scenario, the $700,000 for the high 

school upgrades and lights and would cover the move.   

 

The initial resolution was contingent upon a signed MOU. 

 

As Mr. Seeber said, we’ve got to decide if we’re going to apply for the bond.  Then it’s our 

responsibility to figure out how to pay for it.  It’s you all’s responsibility to commit that, if we 

can fund the move, get everybody to the high school campus, that you all would relinquish the 

property on this side of 1
st
 Street that you didn’t need back to the town.  If we make more out of 

it than what we’ve got invested, then that money should go into a restricted account toward 

building a permanent building.  That is what I was going to try to put together, but haven’t gotten 

it done yet.  

 

When you look at how much we’re paying for all the modpods, once we move the elementary 

school over plus the middle school modpods, if you take that amount of money, that equates to a 

certain amount of money over 20 years.  If you quit renting the modpods and build a building 

with a mortgage or a bond, then it would pay for itself.” 

 

Ms. Goforth agrees with Mr. Trivett that the vote was taken months ago and it was dependent 

upon the school signing the MOU.  So I’m not sure what we are talking about moving on now. 

 

Mayor Ham answered “Whether we are going to commit to moving forward on a $1.2 million 

dollar bond to fund the needs of the school.” 

 

Mr. Seeber said if we are going to get a bond issued, that’s going to be over twenty years.  What 

the lawyer is saying is hogwash.   

 



 

Mr. Seeber summarized  “They are going to give us the big piece of property and insurance 

proceeds that aren’t used for relocation can be applied towards the building, which we should 

then set aside as we discussed. 

 

But we need to authorize the Town Manager to apply for a bond for up to $1.2 million.  Next 

Thursday, we will need a number, Councilman Bone, so we can authorize her to go up to that 

amount.   

 

Before Thursday, the School Board needs to give the town manager a piece of paper that says 

they are going to give us that property.” 

 

Mr. Bone noted there will  need to be modifications to the MOU because it does not address 

property.  If there are any changes to the MOU, they have been done outside of Council because 

Council has not seen it since day one.   

 

Mr. Seeber asked Mr. Trivett is he would take a vote on giving the town that piece of property. 

 

Mr. Trivett answered “Yes.” 

 

Ms. Brubaker agrees with Mr. Trivett and Ms. Goforth that things have changed in the MOU and 

should state both pieces of property.  Can we put into the MOU that insurance company will see 

to any demolition that needs to be done.   

 

Mr. Trivett said their insurance policy will cover removal of that building. 

 

Mr. Chiarello noted that if there is no signed MOU, then there is no resolution.   

 

Mr. Trivett answered “Your attorney has the MOU.  We don’t have it.”   

 

Mr. Trivett answered “Can’t we keep it simple.  We’re going to agree to give you the property on 

the top of the hill and you’re going to give us the bond.  That’s really all it needs to say.  I don’t 

think it needs to be six pages long.” 

 

Mayor Ham said the MOU made it sound like someone was making a loan to buy a house.  The 

town has a responsibility to fund the school system.  The town has to pay the loan.   

 

Certain properties will be deeded back to the town.  Council will make decisions regarding the 

bond issue. 

 

Linda Farneth, reporter, asked if the property is deeded, would that affect the insurance claim. 

 

Ms. Brubaker said she believes the question was out of order, the press doesn’t have any real 

issue here.   

 



 

Mr. Seeber recommended the School Board pass a resolution to transfer the property – get a 

legal description of it – to the Town of Colonial Beach by September 30, 2014.  You get that to 

the town manager by Thursday, April 10, 2014 close of business.   

 

Mr. Seeber asked for a show of hands in support of his recommendation.  Mr. Edwards raised his 

hand.  Mayor Ham raised his hand.  Mr. Chiarello raised his hand.  Mr. Seeber raised his hand. 

 

Adjournment  
Mr. Seeber made a motion to adjourn.  Ms. Brubaker seconded the motion.  The meeting was 

adjourned at 7:49 p.m. 

 

The School Board adjourned at 7:49 p.m. 

 

 

 

 

 

_________________________________ _______________________________________ 

Kathleen Flanagan, Town Clerk  Mike Ham, Mayor 


